CITY OF BRIDGEPORT
CONTRACTS COMMITTEE
REGULAR MEETING
JULY 8, 2025

ATTENDANCE: Jeanette Herron, Co-chair; Matthew McCarthy, Co-chair; Ernest Newton,
Richard Ortiz, Dasha Spell

OTHERS: Council Member(s): S. Burns & M. Pereira; Atty. Paul Michaud,
Michaud Law Firm; Acting Fire Chief L. Edwards; Ken Flatto, Finance
Director; Chadwick Schroder, Public Facilities, Ashley Aguilera, Director,
Legislative Services; Atty. Bernadette Antaki, Michaud Law Firm

CALL TO ORDER

Co-chair Herron called the meeting to order at 6:15 p.m. A quorum was present.

Co-chair Herron stated that Council Member Martinez had an excused absence due to being out
of town. She requested that those present please introduce themselves.

Following the introductions, Council Member Herron reviewed the meeting rules and reminded
everyone to remain civil and respectful.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

* June 10, 2025 (Regular Meeting)

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED THE MINUTES OF THE JUNE 10, 2025
REGULAR MEETING.

** COUNCIL MEMBER ORTIZ SECONDED.

** THE MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE JUNE 10, 2025 REGULAR
MEETING AS SUBMITTED PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

93-24 Proposed Resolution Authorizing the Execution of a Municipal Beneficial
Account Services Agreement with Tritech for Participation in the State
Agriculture and Municipal (SAM) Solar Program, and a presentation.

Atty. Michaud gave a brief overview and explained the timeline.

** COUNCIL MEMBER ORTIZ MOVED TO ADD A DOCUMENT TITLED

TO THE RECORD AS “LAKE SUCCESS RENEWABLE ENERGY PLAN” AS
EXHIBIT 07-08-2025-A.

** COUNCIL MEMBER MCCARTHY SECONDED.

** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

City of Bridgeport

Contracts Committee

Regular Meeting

July 8, 2025 Page 1



Atty. Michaud said that he would be giving a brief summary of the project and explained that
they would be using a portion of the land but keeping the bulk of the acreage as open land. He
identified the various engineers and architects that worked on the project, which were included in
the information packet.

He indicated an old photo that showed the old factory in place and indicated where the green
space was. The new solar panels will go on the brown field and not on the parkland. The remains
of the old factory will be demolished, which leaves about 372 acres basically untouched, some of
which are in Stratford. There will be walking trails and a Nature Center.

One of the drawings indicated where the batteries and the panels will go, and there was a photo
of what the array would look like. Atty. Michaud said the array and the batteries would be on top
of the soil cap.

Council Member Herron said that originally they were told that it would only occupy 5 acres, but
now they are talking about 47 acres. Atty. Michaud said that the calculates are 5 acres per
megawatt, and they expect 6 megawatts of power to be produced. Council Member Herron said
that she was pleased to know that it would be done on the contaminated portion of the property.

Council Member Spell asked about the safety. Atty. Michaud said that the project has to be
approved by the Connecticut Siting Council and the Connecticut Department of Energy. The
Siting Council has very strict rules, that will include an environmental study that has a portion
that is an Emergency Response Plan. That safety plan is developed with the City of Bridgeport
Fire Department and later reviewed by the Siting Council. That plan will be generated later in the
process once they have determine the equipment that would be used. Atty. Michaud said that the
plan has to be developed with the first responders.

Council Member Newton asked what kind of benefit the City would receive from having the
solar panels. He was told that the power would help with the reliability of the grid but would not
benefit the individual homes. It will reduce the need for new transition lines and reduce the
occurrences of power reductions. There will also be a direct payment to the City.

Council Member Pereira thanked Fire Chief Edwards for attending the community forum. She
displayed a map showing the parcel and said that when she originally met with the consultant,
she was told that they would be digging down 18 inches into the cap. The panels will be
cemented into footers and will not disturb the contaminated soil.

She went on to speak about the battery storage and indicated where the panels and storage
batteries would be located on the parcel.

Council Member Pereira said that her constituents were concerned about noise but the engineers
provided the information for the residents.

Council Member Pereira said her constituents were supporting the project but concerned about
the number of trees that would be removed. She indicated that they had committed to keeping the
trees on the left hand side. When the trees are removed, the material will be removed from the

City of Bridgeport

Contracts Committee

Regular Meeting

July 8, 2025 Page 2



site and later chipped. One of the attorneys confirmed that the logs would be removed from the
site.

Council Member Herron said that she had spoken to the attorney earlier in the day and that the
Committee’s concerns would be included in the contract, including the issues about the trees.
She added that she also has some items to be included before the contract comes back.

Council Member Burns thanked the team for returning with the information the Committee had
requested the last time. He asked if the Town of Stratford would need to be incorporated into the
Emergency Response Plan and also wished to have an overall timeline presented.

He was told that the Emergency Response Plan would be limited to Bridgeport because it is far
enough away from the Stratford Town Line, so they would not be triggered if there was an event.
He said that the plan would be submitted to the Siting Council.

On the Federal level, there have been some recent changes and they have shortened the time
period to apply for Tax Credits. If the Council approves the plan, it would be submitted to the
Siting Council and expedited in order to get it into the August auction as soon as possible. There
are very strict regulations regarding storm water run-off and there will be regularly scheduled
State inspections both during construction and for the first two years.

Discussion followed about the details that were included in Appendix 1 regarding storm water
run-off and erosion control.

Council Member Spell asked if they would be holding a job fair in Bridgeport to hire Bridgeport
residents or if the construction company would be bringing in their own people. She was told
that the construction companies were based in Connecticut and noted that they usually try to hire
locally. She was told that the company would discuss this with the construction companies about
hiring locally.

Council Member Spell asked who would be providing the maintenance. She was told that the
Vtech Operations and Maintenance company would be doing the maintenance. The Siting
Council will have to approve the agreement. The maintenance will cover the fencing, ground
cover and general maintenance.

Council Member Herron asked Fire Chief Edwards to speak on this matter. Chief Edwards said
that he had attended a meeting with the Fire Marshal to address the constituents concerns. He
explained that there had been concerns about fires or failures and stated that if the worst were to
happen, the fire or failure would be contained. He said that they would make sure that there was
adequate water supply and that the roads would support a fire truck. At this point, the Fire
Department is comfortable with the direction that this project is moving and the Fire Marshal
will be monitoring this project closely to keep the local residents safe.

The representative spoke about a project for the New Canaan YMCA and explained that the
location of the batteries in relationship to the building was very carefully considered.

City of Bridgeport

Contracts Committee

Regular Meeting

July 8, 2025 Page 3



Chief Edwards noted that Bridgeport and Stratford have a mutual aid agreement and the
Bridgeport Fire Department will keep Stratford updated on the project.

Council Member Burns asked if the batteries would be lithium based batteries. He was told that
this was so. While there are two or three solar arrays in Connecticut, this installation will be the
largest of them all. The batteries that will be used will be of the highest level of technology and
safety.

Council Member Pereira commented that when the representatives had stated earlier that the site
would be monitored 24 hours a day, she wished to clarify that this will be done via technology
and there will not be people on site. Discussion followed.

Chief Edwards left the meeting at 6:45 p.m.

The representative then narrated a PowerPoint presentation and stated that they would email a
copy of the presentation to the co-chairs. The representative then informed the company had
done projects in a number of other Connecticut towns.

This presentation was focused on the contractual details of the project and how the program
works; revenue sharing and the various projected figures. There will be a one-time payment and
the second continual revenue stream will be from the property taxes.

Council Member Pereira asked about the tax credits, which the team reviewed with her. She had
several detailed questions about page 4 and Section 2.2. The representative explained that there
will be a third party report done at the end of the project which will determine the rate and
percentage that the City will be paid. He also noted that the rate that UI purchases the power
from the array and the rate that they sell it to the residents are different because of distribution
costs.

Mr. Flatto said that the calculations were complicated. He noted that for the bidder, the project
generated about $7,000 a year, but added that this was a much smaller project than the proposed
one for Bridgeport. He gave an estimate of what the revenue could be based on the size of the
project and listed the reasons why they should take the one time payment. He reminded people
that the company has to finance and pay for the project. The company will received the revenue
from the power company. He said that he felt that this was a reasonable fee and noted that the
City would have their payment even if the project was never constructed.

Council Member McCarthy said that he was tired of developers coming to Bridgeport and taking
advantage of Bridgeport. He felt that the company should give the City more.

Council Member Newton said that the City now has an opportunity to generate electricity. He
asked the Committee to support this project and noted that it was more than what they had right
now. He said that he did not feel it was the job of the Budget and Appropriations Committee to
tell a company how much they should pay. Discussion followed.

City of Bridgeport

Contracts Committee

Regular Meeting

July 8, 2025 Page 4



Council Member Spell asked for clarification on the figures, which the representatives reviewed
with her. She also wished to know what the tax assessment was on the property. Mr. Flatto said
that the property would be on the tax rolls and that every year, the City should receive some
significant tax payments. Mr. Flatto said that he did not know what the current taxes were and
would send that information to the Committee members. He added that the property would be
subject to business property.

Council Member Spell said that there would be a non-refundable deposit, along with the $2.3
payment and the yearly taxes on the property, which would generate revenue. Mr. Flatto
reviewed the details and said that the company thought that the City would receive a million
dollars a year. However, Mr. Flatto said he was not sure of this.

Council Member Herron said that this item was to allow the company to go to DEEP and submit
the proposal. While it was good that the Committee was discussing the finances, she reminded
everyone that the company may not receive approval for the project. This is simply the first step.

The representative then reviewed the steps. Council Member Herron said that the next Council
meeting would be on August 4th. Discussion followed about potential presentations if the
company received approval.

Council Member Herron said that it was important to know that the company would be
presenting to the Council and the community again. She added that she would like to see some
additional language about cleaning up the site where the flooding occurred. The amount of debris
that was in waterway caused major issues in the past.

Council Member Burns asked about the details of the personal property taxes. He was told that
the land would be leased by the company and would be handled by the main company.

Council Member Pereira said that the company would not want her or her constituents opposing
this project when it goes to the Siting Council. She added that both she and her constituents were
willing to work with the company. She asked for an extra $3 million, which would be an extra
$40,000 a year, which is $3,333 a month.

Council Member Pereira asked if it would be helpful if the Mayor and City Council wrote a
strong letter of support for the project and everyone signed it. She was told that it would be
beneficial. She asked if it was fair that if the residents or Council testified for the project and the
company gave them an extra $40,000 a year.

One of the representatives said it sounded fair, but it would cause the developer to bid higher and
the company may not win the bid. He then gave a brief summary and noted that the developer
had decided to give the cities the best price possible, which they have done. If the bid is too high,
then they might not get the award. Council Member Pereira said that she thought an extra
$40,000 was minuscule and they would have a letter of support from the City. She felt that this
was reasonable and she would like to support the project.

City of Bridgeport

Contracts Committee

Regular Meeting

July 8, 2025 Page 5



One of the representatives pointed out that the project itself is separate from any agreement that
the company might enter into with the City for their municipal accounts. There are two separate
issues involved. She said that she hoped that they would support the project because of the
overall benefits but she was hearing that the Committee would not support it unless there was a
certain number.

Council Member Pereira said that her comments were strictly about the financial aspect. She
would not be going to the Siting Council to speak against this project no matter what because her
constituents tell her what they want her to do and she does it. That’s her philosophy.

One of the representatives replied that they were present the project as a whole.

Council Member Pereira said that she did not think it was unreasonable for $3 million dollars
over 20 years. That’s an extra $40,000 a year. She added that it was the Council’s job to protect
the interest of their constituents. Bridgeport is a poor city and this was not an unreasonable ask.
Having a formal letter from the City would be valuable. She said that she would not be arguing
against the project, but asked if it wouldn’t much better to work with them and have the support
from the City.

Another representative displayed a slide and spoke about what the developer might be able to
agree to. He said that the electricity would only account for about 17.5% of the volume.

Council Member McCarthy asked for clarification on the project. Discussion followed about
distressed and non-distressed communities.

Council Member Herron said that the Committee had two asks: one about the removal of the
trees and the second one regarding cleaning up the waterway. If the project is not approved, there
will be no walkways, hiking paths or any other benefits.

Council Member Newton said he was not in favor of trying to stick the company up. Either the
Committee wants them to go ahead and do what they are proposing to do and move on. Trying to
get extra money is not the way to go. Tomorrow the company could decide not to do business
with Bridgeport. The City will end up with nothing. Arguing about $40,000 is not right. The
Council should be concerned about fixing up the area so that people could walk through there
and enjoy it. He asked the Chair to call the question.

Council Member Herron said that Council Member Burns had a question. Council Member
Burns reminded everyone that this was a major parcel that can’t be developed for anything and
this would give the City some revenue along with a number of other benefits. He felt that this
was a great opportunity.

City of Bridgeport

Contracts Committee

Regular Meeting

July 8, 2025 Page 6



Council Member Pereira said that she was not asking for $40,000 more, but it would be
$800,000 more over 20 years. She reiterated that it was the Council’s job to fight for a
community that is impoverished and this is a distressed municipality. She reminded everyone
that they need to apply by August. She said that she was just trying to negotiate what was best
for all of the City. The Committee wants them to be successful and for the City to have a
reasonable share in that benefit. Her job is to fight for her constituents and that is all the Council
Members’ job. She repeated that it wasn’t $40,000, but $800,000 more over 20 years.

Discussion followed about not having any trees remove on the left hand side of the property as
shown on page 14 of Exhibit 07-08-2025-a “Lake Success Renewable Energy Plan” in the
section on Land Use highlighted in orange.

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED THAT UPON ENTRY TO 615 ASLYUM
STREET NONE OF THE MATURE FOREST ON THE LEFT HAND SIDE WILL HAVE
ANY TREES REMOVED.

** COUNCIL MEMBER ORTIZ SECONDED.

** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED THAT ANY TREES THAT ARE
REMOVED MUST BE IMMEDIATELY REMOVED FROM THE PREMISES.

** COUNCIL MEMBER ORTIZ SECONDED.

** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED TO CLEAN OUT THE WATERWAY BY
THE WALKWAY, SUBJECT BY THE CITY COUNCIL UPON APPROVAL.

** COUNCIL MEMBER ORTIZ SECONDED.

** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

** COUNCIL MEMBER MCCARTHY MOVED TO CHANGE THE AMOUNT TO $3
MILLION.

There was a brief discussion regarding the reasons for this.
** THE MOTION FAILED DUE TO LACK OF A SECOND.

#* COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED TO APPROVE AGENDA ITEM 93-24
PROPOSED RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A MUNICIPAL
BENEFICIAL ACCOUNT SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH TRITECH FOR
PARTICIPATION IN THE STATE AGRICULTURE AND MUNICIPAL (SAM) SOLAR
PROGRAM, AND A PRESENTATION AS AMENDED.

#** COUNCIL MEMBER ORTIZ SECONDED.

#* THE MOTION PASSED WITH FOUR (4) IN FAVOR (HERRON, ORTIZ, NEWTON
AND SPELL) AND ONE (1) OPPOSED (MCCARTHY).

City of Bridgeport

Contracts Committee

Regular Meeting

July 8, 2025 Page 7



ADJOURNMENT

** COUNCIL MEMBER SPELL MOVED TO ADJOURN.

** COUNCIL MEMBER ORTIZ SECONDED.
** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

The meeting adjourned at 7:57 p.m.
Respectfully submitted,

S. L. Soltes
Telesco Secretarial Services

City of Bridgeport
Contracts Committee
Regular Meeting
July 8, 2025

Page 8



